RECEIVED

12-28-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT IN SUPREME COUR OF WISCONSIN

No. 2011AP2864-CRAC

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

SAMUEL C. JOHNSON, III,

Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING IN PART AND REVERSING IN PART AN ORDER OF THE RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE EUGENE A. GASIORKIEWICZ PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-CROSS-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

> J.B. VAN HOLLEN **Attorney General**

MARGUERITE M. MOELLER **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Should this court overrule *State v. Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993), because its holding rests on the erroneous premise that *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39 (1987), mandates the pretrial in camera review and potential disclosure of privately held mental health records whenever a criminal defendant makes a preliminary showing of materiality?

The State did not present this issue to the trial court or the court of appeals because those courts are bound by *Shiffra*.

2. Assuming this court finds that under some circumstances criminal defendants have a federal constitutional right to the in camera review and potential disclosure of privately held privileged records, may a circuit court require production of the records regardless of whether the privilege-holder consents to their release?

The trial court and a majority of the court of appeals said no.

3. Assuming this court finds that under some circumstances criminal defendants have a federal constitutional right to the pretrial in camera review and potential disclosure of privately held privileged records, has Samuel Johnson demonstrated an entitlement to the in camera review of T.S.'s privately held privileged therapy records?

The trial court and the court of appeals said yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

As in any case important enough to merit this court's review, both oral argument and publication of the court's opinion are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Background

On March 24, 2011, Samuel Johnson was charged in Racine County Circuit Court with repeated sexual assault of a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.025(1)(e) (1:1). The complaint alleged that Johnson had sexually

assaulted his stepdaughter, T.S., over the course of three years, starting in June 2007, when she was twelve (*id.*).¹

On April 13, 2011, Johnson waived his right to a preliminary hearing (4), and the State filed a single-count information containing the same charge as the criminal complaint (3).

On August 5, 2011, Johnson filed a motion and supporting memorandum seeking production of T.S.'s therapy records for in camera review (10:Shiffra; Pet-Ap. 157-63).² A hearing on the motion was held September 23, 2011 (39:1-10; Pet-Ap. 173-82). The trial court determined that Johnson was entitled to an in camera review of T.S.'s therapy records from Kristin Keeler and Dr. Garry Libster (39:8-9; Pet-Ap. 180-81). The court ordered the State to secure the records and provide them to the court (39:8; Pet-Ap. 180).

On October 7, 2011, T.S.'s attorney informed the trial court that T.S. would not consent to an in camera review of her records (20; Pet-Ap. 164-65). The State then moved the court to subpoena T.S.'s therapy records under Wis. Stat. § 146.82(2)(a)4. (see 24). Johnson opposed this request and moved that T.S.'s testimony be suppressed as a consequence of her refusal to consent to disclosure of her records (31:5).

On November 29, 2011, the trial court issued a Decision and Order (36; Pet-Ap. 114-56) denying both Johnson's motion to bar T.S. from testifying (36:32; Pet-Ap. 145) and the State's motion to subpoena T.S.'s records for in camera review (36:33; Pet-Ap. 146).

¹ T.S.'s date of birth is April 21, 1995 (1:1).

² Because the envelope marked item 10 contains two documents, the State will cite the in camera motion as "Shiffra," while the motion to exclude Johnson's statements will be cited as "privileged."

The State and Johnson petitioned for leave to appeal. On January 6, 2012, the court of appeals granted both petitions (38). Following briefing, the court issued a decision affirming that portion of the circuit court's decision granting Johnson's motion for in camera review and reversing that portion of the decision allowing T.S. to testify at trial despite her refusal to release her records for in camera review. *State of Wisconsin v. Samuel Curtis Johnson, III*, No. 2011AP2864-CRAC (Ct. App. Dist. II dec'd Apr. 18, 2012); Pet-Ap. 101-13.

On November 14, 2012, this court granted the State's petition to review the court of appeals' decision.

Facts

The investigation into Johnson's sexual abuse of T.S. was prompted by a report to the Racine County Human Services Department on or about February 17, 2011, from Johnson's treatment provider in Scottsdale, Arizona (10:privileged:2).³ According to the defense, the report from Arizona stated that while undergoing treatment there, Johnson "disclosed he had inappropriate sexual contact with his 15 year old daughter" (id.). As a result of this report, an investigator with the Racine a forensic County Sheriff's Department arranged interview with T.S. on March 16, 2011 (1:1). confirmed that Johnson had sexually assaulted her on numerous occasions, usually in her bedroom in the family residence in Racine County (id.:1-2). T.S. told the forensic examiner that "she finally told her mother about what was happening to her because she wanted to protect her younger sisters" (id.:2).

³ The defense "Motion to Exclude Therapist/Patient Privileged Information" and supporting memorandum are contained in record 10 along with the *Shiffra* motion. On August 5, 2011, the trial court granted the defense motion to seal these documents (11). At the September 23, 2011 hearing on these motions, however, the court decided to "lift the seal with respect to matters regarding the defendant" (39:33). The court clarified that neither the *Shiffra* motion nor the State's response to it would be sealed (*id*.:34).

When interviewed on March 18, 2011, Tracie S-J., the mother of T.S. and wife of Johnson, indicated that she first suspected something was going on between Johnson and his stepdaughter in December 2010 (1:2). When Tracie confronted Johnson about her suspicions in January 2011, he initially denied any wrongdoing (id.). During January and February 2011, Tracie received several communications from T.S. alleging that Johnson had sexually abused her and that the abuse had started between the sixth and seventh grades, with the last incident occurring in November 2010 (id.). T.S. told her mother that Johnson did this "anywhere between 15 and 20 times," but that she really didn't know the exact number Following this disclosure, Tracie confronted Johnson again; after receiving Tracie's assurance that she was not recording their conversation, he admitted to fondling T.S.'s breasts (id.). Tracie also related to an investigator that after Johnson left Arizona, he said he was sorry for what he did to their family and to T.S. (id.).

On May 2, 2011, Attorney Corey Chirafisi notified the parties and the court that he represented Tracie S-J. and advised that she was "willing and prepared to testify if necessary" (6:1). Chirafisi requested that any attempts to speak with his client go through his office (*id*.:2).

On August 5, 2011, Johnson filed a motion seeking in camera review of T.S.'s therapy records, advancing the following claim:

There is a reasonable likelihood that the records relating to her therapy contain exculpatory information necessary for a proper defense. Specifically, the records are likely to demonstrate that T.S. discussed her relationship with Johnson as part of her therapy sessions, and that T.S. either denied or did not disclose to her therapist any sexual contact with, or abuse by, Johnson.

(10:*Shiffra*:2-3; Pet-Ap. 158-59.)

Johnson alleged that T.S. attended two therapy sessions in 2010 with clinical psychologist Kristin Keeler, who had been providing marriage counseling to Johnson and his wife since 2008 (10:Shiffra:3-4; Pet-Ap. 159-60). Johnson also alleged that T.S. "was involved in counseling and therapy with Dr. Garry Libster in 2010 relating to issues affecting her school performance, including Attention Deficit Disorder and difficulties at home" (10:Shiffra:4; Pet-Ap. 160). Johnson asserted that T.S.'s therapy records were "reasonably likely" to contain information "relevant and necessary" to his defense because neither therapist reported suspecting abuse despite having a duty to do so under Wisconsin's mandatory reporting statute, Wis. Stat. § 48.981:

This lack of any reporting compels the inference that T.S. never made any mention of inappropriate sexual contact by Johnson despite discussing her relationship with him in a privileged setting.

Any statements describing a relationship with Johnson that does not include abusive conduct would constitute prior inconsistent statements in light of T.S.'s accusations; as such they create ample grounds for impeachment. Furthermore, due to the fact that such statements or denials were made in the context of counseling which was sought for the express purpose of dealing with relationships amongst the family members, these records present potentially compelling evidence of T.S.'s incredibility.

(10:Shiffra:5-6; Pet-Ap. 161-62.)

A later filing made similar allegations:

This counseling took place during the period of time in which T.S. alleges that Johnson was assaulting her. It is more than reasonable to infer that, due to the topic of counseling, T.S. was asked about her relationship with Johnson. Given the lack of any report by the counselors pursuant to the mandatory reporting statutes, it is equally reasonable to believe that T.S. described a relationship with Johnson that did not include him sexually abusing her. Such

records would not simply prove a lack of reporting . . . they would contain evidence bearing directly on T.S.'s credibility.

(19:2.)

At a September 23, 2011 hearing, the circuit court ruled that Johnson had established a right to in camera review of T.S.'s privileged therapy records (39:8-9; Pet-Ap. 180-81). Although the circuit court ordered the State to provide the court with those records (*id.*), T.S.'s attorney notified the court that T.S. refused to consent to in camera inspection of them (20; Pet-Ap. 164-65).

Despite her refusal to consent to review of her records, T.S. authorized her attorney to make limited disclosures regarding T.S.'s treatment history. Specifically, in a letter to the court and counsel, T.S.'s attorney confirmed the accuracy of some of the assertions in the *Shiffra* motion:

I have reviewed with T.S. the facts set forth in the defendant's *Shiffra* motion pertaining to the background for that motion. We offer no amendments or corrections to the factual assertions made . . . [T]he time frame of T.S.'s treatment history, the persons from whom she received treatment, and the purposes for treatment are accurately set forth in the defendant's *Shiffra* motion.

(34:1.)

At the November 10, 2011 hearing, the trial court explicitly adopted these limited disclosures as established facts (41:5; Pet-Ap. 187). Although the court gave the parties the opportunity to offer additional evidence relevant to the *Shiffra* issue, neither side did so (41:7-8; Pet-Ap. 189-99).

In its Decision and Order of November 29, 2011, the court concluded that Johnson "met the minimal burden required for conducting an *in camera* inspection which

included the uncontroverted assertion that T.S. has attention deficit disorder which called into question her ability to perceive reality and relate the same to the trier of fact" (36:13; Pet-Ap. 126). The trial court denied the State's motion requesting the court to issue a subpoena compelling T.S.'s providers to furnish T.S.'s records to the court for in camera review (36:41; Pet-Ap. 154). The court also denied Johnson's motion to bar T.S. from testifying at trial (*id.*). Instead, the court fashioned an alternate remedy for T.S.'s refusal to waive her privilege:

The Court rules that T.S. will be allowed to testify at the trial in this matter; that T.S. may assert her statutory communication privilege but that the court will allow a jury instruction inferring that the information not disclosed by T.S. would be helpful to the defense position in this matter. The defendant will then be limited at trial with respect to cross-examination on the issue of asserting privilege as stated within . . . this decision.

(36:41-42; Pet-Ap. 154-55.)

Johnson moved for reconsideration of the court's order on the ground the negative-inference instruction the court proposed to give violated *Shiffra*.⁴ Finding that the motion presented nothing new, the court denied it (37; Pet-Ap. 171-72).

On interlocutory review of the trial court's Decision and Order, the appellate court affirmed the trial court's ruling that Johnson had established a constitutional right to have T.S.'s privileged therapy records disclosed for in camera review:

We agree with the circuit court's order granting in camera inspection. Johnson set forth that T.S. was in counseling at the time that the alleged acts of abuse occurred and that the purpose of counseling was centered on interpersonal relationships within T.S.'s family, including her relationship with Johnson. T.S. agreed that Johnson

-8-

⁴ The motion for reconsideration is not in the record.

correctly set forth the time and purpose of her counseling sessions. It is reasonably likely, therefore, that the records contain relevant evidence of T.S.'s recitation as to her relationship with and the actions of Johnson.

Johnson, slip op. ¶ 14 (Pet-Ap. 106).

The appeals court reversed the trial court's ruling that T.S. would be allowed to testify with a negative inference instruction, holding that *Shiffra* mandated the suppression of her testimony and that the court was bound by *Shiffra*. *Johnson*, slip op. ¶ 17 (Pet-Ap. 107).

Although agreeing that Johnson had satisfied the necessary showing for in camera review (*Johnson*, slip op. ¶ 23; Pet-Ap. 110), Chief Judge Brown dissented from the majority's view that *Shiffra* mandates barring T.S.'s testimony. He accepted the State's argument that the circuit court had authority to order T.S.'s privileged therapy records for in camera review without her consent. *Johnson*, slip op. ¶¶ 24-25 (Pet-Ap. 110-11).

Additional facts appear below.

ARGUMENT

I. **THIS COURT** SHOULD OVERRULE SHIFFRA BECAUSE IT ERRONEOUSLY HELD THAT *PENNSYLVANIA* V. **RITCHIE APPLIES** TO **PRIVILEGED** RECORDS THE GOVERNMENT DOES NOT POSSESS. AND IT CREATED Α DUE PROCESS **RIGHT** TO **PRETRIAL** DISCOVERY IN CONFLICT WITH **STATES** UNITED **SUPREME** COURT JURISPRUDENCE.

In *State v. Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d 600, 499 N.W.2d 719 (Ct. App. 1993), the court upheld a pretrial order

suppressing the testimony of an alleged sexual assault victim because she refused to allow an in camera inspection of her mental health treatment records. The court framed the first issue as "whether an *in camera* inspection is warranted under *Pennsylvania v. Ritchie*, 480 U.S. 39 (1987)." *Id.* at 602. The court said a defendant would be entitled to in camera review if he could "make a preliminary showing that the sought-after evidence is relevant and may be helpful to the defense or is necessary to a fair determination of guilt or innocence." *Id.* at 608. In adopting this standard, the court analogized to cases in which a defendant seeks disclosure of a government informant's identity, such as *Roviaro v. United States*, 353 U.S. 53 (1957). *Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d at 608. *Shiffra*'s holding is based solely on due process. *See id.* at 605 n.1.

As modified by *State v. Green*, 2002 WI 68, 253 Wis. 2d 356, 646 N.W.2d 298, *Shiffra* has been the law in Wisconsin for nearly twenty years. During that time, the State has periodically urged this court to find that *Shiffra* was wrongly decided, largely because of its misplaced reliance on *Ritchie*, where the records at issue were in the government's possession. *See*, *e.g.*, *Green*, 253 Wis. 2d 356, ¶ 21 n.4.

For some of the same reasons proffered in the past, and for additional reasons discussed below, the State urges this court to overrule *Shiffra*'s holding that the Due Process Clause requires an in camera review of privately held privileged records that the State has never possessed.

A. Shiffra failed to articulate why Ritchie, which was staked on the government's duty under Brady to disclose evidence in its possession that is favorable to the defense, logically should apply to privately held records to which the government has no access.

In *Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d at 606, the State argued that one reason the victim's mental health records were not subject to in camera review under *Ritchie* was that they were not in the possession of the prosecution or any other state agency. *Id.* at 606. Rejecting this argument, the court of appeals declared itself bound by Wisconsin precedent which "makes *Ritchie* applicable to cases in which the information sought by the defense . . . is not in the possession of the state." *Id.* at 606-07. In support, the court cited *In Interest of K.K.C.*, 143 Wis. 2d 508, 422 N.W.2d 142 (Ct. App. 1988), and *State v. S.H.*, 159 Wis. 2d 730, 465 N.W.2d 238 (Ct. App. 1990). *See Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d at 607.

While *Shiffra* was technically correct in saying that *K.K.C.* did not involve records in the State's possession, it did involve government records, i.e., records of the Rock County Department of Social Services. Consequently, the records in *K.K.C.* were not privately held so that decision hardly supports *Shiffra*'s application of *Ritchie* to privately held privileged records.

As for *S.H.*, neither the appellant nor the guardian for the minor children even cited *Ritchie* in their respective briefs. *See Appendices and Briefs*, 159 Wis. (2D) 694-747, Tab 5.⁵ Only the State cited *Ritchie*, taking the position it applied to records that admittedly were in the possession of a private counseling center. *S.H.*, 159 Wis. 2d at 733. Because the other parties did not dispute

⁵ Appendices and Briefs can be found in the State Law Library.

Ritchie's relevance, the court of appeals did not question its applicability, simply accepting the State's assertion. But regardless of whether the S.H. court gave much thought to applying Ritchie in the context of privately held records, its adoption of Ritchie was dicta because the court found that S.H. had abandoned the Ritchie issue on appeal. Id. at 738. See American Family Mut. Ins. Co. v. Shannon, 120 Wis. 2d 560, 565, 356 N.W.2d 175 (1984) ("dictum is a statement not addressed to the question before the court or necessary for its decision"). Because the court's adoption of Ritchie was dicta, the Shiffra court was not bound by it. State v. Matson, 2003 WI App 253, ¶ 24, 268 Wis. 2d 725, 674 N.W.2d 51.

But even if the State is wrong, and *S.H.'s* application of *Ritchie* to privately held records was not dicta and did bind the *Shiffra* court, *S.H.*'s. conclusion that *Ritchie* applies to privately held counseling records does not bind this court. Given that *Shiffra* rests on the premise that there exists a constitutional due process right to pretrial discovery of privately held records and that *Ritchie* and cases interpreting it do not support this premise, this court should revisit and overrule *Shiffra*.

The Supreme Court framed the issue in *Ritchie* as "whether and to what extent a State's interest in the confidentiality of its investigative files concerning child abuse must yield to a criminal defendant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to discover favorable evidence." 480 U.S. at 42-43. During pretrial discovery in his criminal prosecution for sex crimes against his minor daughter, Ritchie had served a subpoena on a protective service agency established by the State to investigate cases of suspected child mistreatment and neglect. The subpoena ordered the agency, Children and Youth Services (CYS), to turn over records relating to the charges against Ritchie, as well as earlier records compiled when CYS had investigated a separate report that his children were being abused. CYS refused to comply, claiming the records were privileged under a Pennsylvania statute which provides that all CYS records

must be kept confidential, subject to eleven specific exceptions. One exception allowed the agency to disclose reports to a "court of competent jurisdiction pursuant to a court order." *Id.* at 44 (citing a Pennsylvania statute). After reviewing a portion of the CYS files, the trial judge refused to order CYS to disclose the files. Ritchie was ultimately convicted on all counts.

When Ritchie's appeal reached the Pennsylvania Supreme Court, it vacated Ritchie's convictions, ruling that his rights to confrontation and compulsory process had been violated by the trial court's refusal to order CYS to disclose its files to defense counsel. 480 U.S. at 45-46. The Supreme Court granted Pennsylvania's petition for a writ of certiorari.

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