### **RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

01-22-2013

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

No. 2011AP2864-CRAC

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Cross-Respondent-Petitioner.

v.

#### SAMUEL CURTIS JOHNSON III,

Defendant-Respondent-Cross-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, AFFIRMING IN PART AND REVERSING IN PART AN ORDER ENTERED IN RACINE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT BY THE HONORABLE EUGENE A. GASIORKIEWICZ

### RESPONSE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT-CROSS-APPELLANT

\_\_\_\_\_

#### Attorneys for Defendant-Respondent-Cross Appellant

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

The State relies on an outdated Vermont Supreme Court decision for the proposition that *in camera* review pursuant to *Ritchie* can only occur when the records are possessed by the government. (State's Br. at 14; *quoting State v. Percy*, 548 A.2d 408, 415 (1988). However, the Vermont Supreme Court more recently agreed with Johnson (and 20 years of Wisconsin law) and said that "there is little justification for applying a different analysis [under *Ritchie*] when privileged records are held by private entities rather than by the government." *State v. Rehkop*, 180 Vt. 228, ¶

18, 908 A.2d 488 (2006). "Accordingly, we have recognized that a case may arise where due process will require some access to privileged information about a victim not held by the State." *Id.*; *citing Percy*, 149 Vt. at 635. "[T]his is that case." *Rehkop*, 180 Vt. 228 at ¶ 26.

# D. The Seventh Circuit Has Approved Of Shiffra And Its Progeny.

Lastly, as further proof that *Shiffra* properly established procedural mechanisms to enforce defendants' existing due process rights, the Seventh Circuit recently addressed the propriety of *Shiffra*—and this Court's application of it—in a *habeas corpus* proceeding. *Rizzo v. Smith*, 528 F.3d 501, 505-506 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2008). Rizzo, who unsuccessfully challenged his denial of access to privileged third-party records before this Court, argued to the Seventh Circuit that this Court unreasonably applied *Ritchie*.

In answering Rizzo's complaint that this Court's application of *Ritchie* was unreasonable, the Seventh Circuit said: "[this Court's] conclusion was certainly reasonable. *Ritchie* says that due process requires

confidential information that is potentially exculpatory to be submitted to the trial court for *in camera* review. That's exactly what Rizzo got." *Rizzo v. Smith*, 528 F.3d at 506.

Given that the State's complaints about the correctness of *Shiffra* have been extensively argued, considered, and rejected by numerous Wisconsin appellate courts, Johnson asks that this Court again reaffirm *Shiffra*'s extension of *Ritchie* to further the fundamental principles of *stare decisis*. This simply is not a proposition that should be relitigated in every case.

II. The Court Should Leave The Shiffra Procedures Intact Because They Properly Balance A Defendant's Due Process Rights Against A Witness's Right To Confidentiality And Provide A Remedy To Defendants In Cases Where A Witness Refuses To Disclose Privileged Records.

The *Shiffra* procedures were summarized by this Court as follows:

If the defendant satisfies th[e *Green*] standard, the trial court reviews the records only if the victim consents to the review. . . . If the victim does not consent, there is no *in camera* review and the victim is barred from testifying. . . . If after the *in camera* review, the circuit court determines that the records contain relevant evidence, it should be disclosed to the defendant if the patient again consents.

*Johnson v. Rogers Mem'l Hosp., Inc.*, 2005 WI 114, ¶ 73, 283 Wis. 2d 384, 700 N.W.2d 27 (citations omitted)

The State's second issue (State's br. at 20-30) is plainly an attack on the wisdom of *Shiffra*'s suppression mandate<sup>3</sup>. Rather than arguing that suppression is an inappropriate remedy, the State seeks to eliminate the possibility of suppression by arguing that, upon a sufficient *Green* showing, circuit courts should order the production of a witness's privileged records for *in camera* review pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 146.82(2)(a)4.

The State's argument unfolds in four parts, as follows: first, that suppression fails to account for the State's interest in "the fair and effective prosecution of crime"; second, that prosecuting crimes was made more difficult by the Supreme Court's decision in *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004); third, that if a defendant makes a sufficient *Green* showing, the defendant's right to *in camera* review of those records

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Under the circumstances, the only method of protecting Shiffra's right to a fair trial was to suppress Pamela's testimony if she refused to disclose her records." *Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d at 612.

"trumps" the witness's privilege, which must yield; and finally, that Wis. Stat. § 146.82(2)(a)4. provides circuit courts with a mechanism to compel the witness's privileged records. (State's Br. at 20-30.) Johnson will address the flaws in the State's arguments in turn.

# A. The Shiffra Procedures Are The Embodiment of The Fair Administration of Justice.

The State complains that "Shiffra and the out-of-State cases<sup>4</sup> endorsing witness preclusion . . . fail to factor in the very important stake the public has in the effective<sup>5</sup> administration of the criminal justice system . . ." (State's Br. at 21.) However, for reasons Johnson will expound upon, the Shiffra procedural mechanisms are the very embodiment of the "fair administration of justice."

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> At least five other States have endorsed witness suppression as a remedy to protect a defendant's rights. *State v. Esposito*, 471 A.2d 949 (Conn. 1984); *People v. Stanaway*, 521 N.W.2d 557 (Mich. 1994); *State v. Trammel*, 435 N.W.2d 197 (Neb. 1989); *State v. Gonzales*, 912 P.2d 297 (N.M. 1996); *State v. Karlen*, 589 N.W.2d 594 (S.D. 1999).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The State's brief makes it clear that an "effective" prosecution for the State is one where the State secures a conviction, regardless of the person's innocence or guilt. (State's Br. at 25 "[a]ssuming the allegations against Johnson are true . . .") Of course, Johnson recognizes that the "primary duty of a lawyer engaged in public prosecution is not to convict, but to see that justice is done." ABA Canons of Professional Ethics, Canon 5 (1908).

Wisconsin courts have consistently contemplated and balanced a defendant's fair trial rights with a witness's privacy rights in situations like this. *Green*, 2002 WI 68 at ¶ 23 (recapping *Shiffra* and noting "the competing rights and interests involved when a defendant seeks an *in camera* review of privileged records"); *see also Rizzo*, 2002 WI 20 at ¶ 53.

Wisconsin courts have also repeatedly said that a witness's privilege and a defendant's right to a fair trial are in equipoise upon a Green showing. In camera review implicates "[o]n the one hand, a criminal defendant's right to due process, in particular the right to a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense . . . On the other hand, the state has an interest in protecting a patients' privileged records, Wis. Stat. § 905.04(2), from being disclosed." *Green*, 2002 WI 68 at ¶ 23 (footnote and internal citations omitted). "[T]he in camera procedure under Shiffra . . . specifically balanced the victim's interest in confidentiality against the constitutional rights of the defendant." State v. *Rizzo*, 2002 WI 20 at ¶ 53.

For example, the initial *Green* showing protects witnesses from fishing expeditions and other unreasonable privacy intrusions. See State v. **Robertson**, 2003 WI App 84, ¶ 23, 263 Wis. 2d 349, 661 N.W.2d 105 (citation omitted). Indeed, the requirements of the initial *Green* showing—1) specificity; 2) good faith; 3) seeking non-cumulative evidence; and 4) some likelihood that records contain relevant exculpatory evidence—create barrier between a witness's privileged records and a defendant's access to the same, potentially breached only upon a sufficient and specific showing, made in good faith.

Furthermore, if, and only if, a defendant makes the initial *Green* showing, is a defendant entitled to an *in camera* review of the witness's privileged records. *Shiffra*, 175 Wis. 2d at 605. At this stage of the *Shiffra* procedures, the witness is presented with an affirmative opportunity to protect his or her right to confidentiality. The witness can, as this Court has recognized, *Solberg*, 211 Wis. 2d at 383, refuse to

waive the Wis. Stat. § 905.04 privilege to ensure that his or her privileged records are not disclosed.

If the witness elects to retain his privilege, his non-waiver is balanced against the defendant's right to a fair trial and the witness is barred from testifying at trial to protect the defendant's rights. "[The privilege-holder] alone possesses waiver rights. The court recognized this in *Solberg*, requiring a victim's consent before a criminal defendant could access records." *Rogers Mem'l Hosp., Inc.*, 2005 WI 114 at ¶ 175 (Bradley, J., dissenting, joined by Abrahamson, C.J.).

On the other hand, if the witness waives his or her privilege, the circuit court conducts an *in camera* review of the records. The circuit court's *in camera* review is itself a balancing because it denies defendants the benefit of an "advocate's eye" in reviewing the privileged records. *Ritchie*, 480 U.S. at 60.

If, and only if, the circuit court identifies records to be disclosed to the defendant during the *in camera* review, then the witness again has the opportunity to exercise his privilege and prevent disclosure to the

defendant and the prosecution<sup>6</sup>. *Solberg*, 211 Wis. 2d at 386-387 ("that information should be disclosed to the defendant if the patient consents to such a disclosure.")

The *Solberg* court explicitly stated that the *Shiffra* procedures "strike[] an appropriate balance between the defendant's due process right to be given a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense and the policy interests underlying the Wis. Stat. § 905.04(2) privilege." *Solberg*, 211 Wis. 2d at 387. Five years after *Solberg*, this Court again reflected upon the *Shiffra* procedure, noting that "the *in camera* procedure under *Shiffra* . . . specifically balanced the victim's interest in confidentiality against the constitutional rights of the defendant." *Rizzo* at ¶ 53.

In *Rizzo*, the defendant made the initial showing under *Shiffra-Green*, but was denied access to the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The State's primary argument—that a defendant's right "trumps" the witness's privilege and a court can simply subpoena the records for *in camera* review—fails to address situations where a circuit court compels a privilege-holder's records over nonconsent and finds information subject to disclosure during its *in camera* review. *Solberg* explains that, in such a situation, the witness has a right to prevent disclosure to the defendant. *Solberg*, 211 Wis. 2d at 386-387. Johnson assumes that the State's position in such a situation is that the witness's confidentiality must continue to yield, but the State is silent thus far.

review. *Rizzo* at ¶ 48. The defendant complained that he was entitled to all of the alleged victim's treatment records because they formed the basis for an expert's opinion. *Id.* at ¶ 50-52. In response to Rizzo's argument, this Court said: "We do not adopt Rizzo's position because it would eviscerate the procedure for *in camera* review set forth in *Shiffra*, which protects a victim's confidential records." *Rizzo* at ¶ 53.

Considered together, *Solberg*, *Rizzo*, *Green*, and *Rogers Memorial Hospital* refute the State's argument that the *Shiffra* procedures involve unanswered questions. (State's Br. at 20 n. 9.) Furthermore, the State's reference to a single foreign jurisdiction's statement about the "fair administration of justice" is hardly compelling evidence that *Shiffra*, *Solberg*, *Green* and their progeny are ripe for reexamination. (State's Br. at 22.)

Perhaps the court of appeals panel in *Behnke* answered the State's complaints about the "fair administration of justice" most aptly:

The State . . . misconstrues the reasoning of *Ritchie* and *Shiffra*. These decisions are not about keeping a level playing field between the State and the defendant. Rather, these decisions attempt to strike a balance between the witness's right to privacy, which is embodied in the health care provider privileges, and the truth-seeking function of our courts, which is rooted in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

. .

We further acknowledge that the "costs" of the health care provider privileges are principally shifted to the State. In a few circumstances, the State may have to completely forgo a case when one of its witnesses refuses to turn over the information. . . . Nonetheless, the Due Process Clause guarantees the defendant a right to a trial based on truth seeking which can only be accomplished by allowing him or her to present a complete defense. . . . The Due Process Clause thus prevents the State from shifting the costs associated with the health care provider privileges to criminal defendants. If the State sees a problem with these privileges, it should lobby the legislature for a change in the law.

State v. Behnke, 203 Wis. 2d 43, 56.

# B. Crawford Simply Could Not Have Had Any Effect on Shiffra's Suppression Mandate.

In addition to arguing that *Shiffra* frustrates the "fair administration of justice," the State also complains that *Crawford v. Washington* "makes it less likely . . . that the State will be able to continue a prosecution once the victim is barred from testifying." (State's Br. at 25.) This contention is absurd.

Although *Crawford* now prevents the State from introducing a declarant's preliminary hearing testimony or other out-of-court testimonial statement at trial if the declarant is unavailable, *Crawford* has not and could not have had any effect on the *Shiffra* suppression mandate. To admit a witness's preliminary hearing testimony or other out-of-court testimonial statements after barring her from testifying at trial would circumvent the very purpose of the sanction.

Johnson implores the State to explain how *Crawford* could have had any effect on the *Shiffra* suppression mandate. Assuredly, by its failure to cite even a single case in support of this argument, the State will be unable to do so.

C. A Defendant's Due Process Rights Do Not "Trump" A Witness's Privilege; Any Conflict Between The Two Interests Is Contemplated And Reconciled By The Balancing Inherent In The Shiffra Procedures.

The State's third argument in support of overruling *Shiffra*'s suppression mandate is that circuit courts have the authority to compel T.S.'s privileged medical records for *in camera* review because

Johnson's due process rights trump T.S.'s privilege. (State's Br. at 27.)

The State's hypothesis requires accepting the following logic: 1) Johnson has the right to fair trial, which, per *Ritchie* and *Shiffra*, includes the right to have a court conduct an *in camera* review of T.S.'s records upon a sufficient showing; 2) T.S.'s right to confidentiality in her privileged records is only a statutory right; 3) Johnson's rights conflict with T.S.'s; therefore, 4) Johnson's rights must "trump" T.S.'s right to confidentiality in her privileged records and the circuit court can compel her records to be produced under Wis. Stat. § 146.82(2)(a)4. (*See* State's Br. at 27-30.)

The State's logic falls apart at step three. Any apparent conflict that might exist between T.S.'s privilege and Johnson's due process rights is reconciled by the *Shiffra* procedures, including the *in camera* inspection itself.

The State claims that Johnson's constitutional rights "trump" T.S.'s right to confidentiality in her privileged records. (State's Br. at 28.) However, a

constitutional right only "trumps" state law where the two laws irreconcilably conflict. *M & I Marshall & Ilsley Bank v. Guar. Fin., MHC*, 2011 WI App 82, ¶ 23, 334 Wis. 2d 173, 800 N.W.2d 476; *see also Ware v. Hylton*, 3 U.S. 199 (1796) (Virginia law preventing British creditor's recovery of American debtor's debt must yield to treaty between United States and Britain allowing recovery).

One example of a true conflict between a State law and a constitutional right is where a State law proscribes conduct that is protected by an individual's constitutional rights. In that instance, if the law conflicts with the right, the law must either be made constitutional or be struck down. For example, in 2000, this Court struck down former Wis. 944.205(2)(a) because it proscribed conduct that was protected by the First Amendment. State v. Stevenson, 2000 WI 71, ¶ 41, 236 Wis. 2d 86, 613 N.W.2d 90. There, the Court was faced with a true conflict, which had two possible outcomes: either the law is or can be made constitutional, or the individual's constitutional rights trump the law and the law must yield.

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